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completed parish survey questionnaire for breage  
 Date of Completion
21st September 2006
 Name of Volunteer
Sarah Tresidder
 Grid Reference
Breage Church Town
 Status (In use/redundant – open/closed)
In use – open 10 am until 4 pm
 Guide Book/sheet/tablet?
Not stated
 Stained Glass Windows
No. 1 : Subject Two Angels? 

Location Chancel, south wall also known as Godolphin Chapel.  

Comments:  According to Coulthard Breage Parish Church … (p.52): The two heads are those of angels.  These shards as well as that of St Veronica were found during the restoration in 1891 to be walled up in the stairwell to the Rood loft with two almost complete skeletons.  In the far eastern window you can clearly see a shard with writing on it.


No.2: Subject: Crown of thorns and 3 nails, beside it a golden chalice.  

Location: Chancel, South Wall (Godolphin Chapel).  

Comments:  Not thought to be of medieval period but you did mention that you wanted to know of any windows of this nature.


No.3: Subject St Veronica (?) also another section depicting the stigmata.  

Location: The North Chancel.  

Comments:  St Veronica discovered with the other shards of glass in the rood stairway.  I cannot confirm the date of the stigmata but assume it to be the same age as the crown of thorns and chalice as the glass-work appears to be of the same characteristic

.
No.4: Subject: Omega and Alpha.  

Location: North Chancel.  

Comments: Again it is of the same style as the crown of thorns and chalice in South Chancel.  


No. 5:  Subject: Shards of coloured glass found in the churchyard.  

Location:  South Transept East window.  

Comments:  I was told by the Church Warden that these shards were originally found in the churchyard.  They were placed in the mid section of the window in horizontal oblong with the vertical oblong placed underneath it, some time after the death of Andrew John Clarke in 13.02.1977 by his parents.
 Bench Ends
None pre-medieval – all Victorian.
Chapels

Godolphin Chapel: According to Patrick Thorne in Breage & St Breaca’s Church (p16) This Chapel (the eastern end of the south aisle) was built about 1475 a few years after the dedication of the church.
Holy Wells

None
Crosses

No. 1: Subject:  Four holed sandstone cross.  

Location: Church yard. SW6185 2845. 

Comments: According to Andrew Langdon Stone Crosses in West Cornwall (p10):  Believed to be card from red sandrock, discovered mid 19th century buried in churchyard.  Very unusual, not of local stone.  Langdon mentions legend stating cross was formed from sand and blood of combatants that fell at battle fought at foot of Godolphin Hill which is 2 miles NW of Breage.


No.2: Subject: Trewavas Reliquary or Cross-head.  

Location: in Church south aisle behind south door SW6185 2845.  

Comments:  According to Bonsey A Pilgrim’s Guide...(p5): Carved stone bearing a representation of the crucifixion with the figures of the Virgin Mary and St John on either side.  Possibly 14th century.  According to Coultard, Some notes on the Church & Parish of Breage (pps3 and 4): The stone was found at Tremearne Farm, with other worked stones.  There were also human remains found nearby, thought to be a burial ground for drowned sailors.  The back of it is hollowed out.  On top the crosshead are letters B & I?


No.3: Subject: Spernon Cross.  

Location: In church, west corner of south aisle behind font. SW6185 2845. 

Comments: According to Langdon (p12): This was taken to Godolphin Church after it was discovered at Spernon.  He describes it as a semi-Gothic Latin cross.  On it is a compressed figure of Christ with arms outstretched, and wearing a loin cloth.  Langdon feels size and shape indicate it may have been a gable cross.  Godolphin Church is now privately owned and the cross will stay at Breage.


No. 4. Subject:  Chytodden Cross.  

Location:  St John the Baptist Churchyard at Godolphin.  SW6092 3128.  

Comments:  Langdon (p.11): Refers to this as a Latin Wayside Cross.  It was found being used as a gate post between Carleen and Chytodden Farm and rescued by Revd. Rundle 1886.  It is roughly hewn on principal face with a small incised cross. Reverse un-worked.


No. 5: Subject:  Trevena Cross.  

Location:  Trevena Cross at junction of A394 opposite Troon Row.  SW6129 2843.  

Comments: Langdon (p11).  Wheel-headed wayside cross.  Revd. Pridmore in Correspondence to SJ Wills 1888 stated stone cross formerly stood in hedge, later set up in its base-stone on the green triangular area of grass at the centre of the road junction (no longer there).  In 1924 Revd. Coulthard placed the cross in a recess in the hedge where it remains today.  Broad limbed Latin cross on each face, lower limb extending full length of shaft.  Top of the cross head has been broken off, taking with it the upper limb of the Latin cross on each side.  Base stone appears rather large for cross apparently suggesting that they cross may at one time have been much larger.

Wall Paintings
No. 1: Subject: Figure holding Orb wearing coronation robe of ermine.  

Location:  South aisle, east of door.  

Comments:  Discovered in 1955 during restoration.  According to Bonsey (p4): Thought to be figure of either King Henry VI, King Edward IV, or Prince Bishop St Stermoe.  According to Thorne (p9); Suggestions existed that it might depict King Henry VI the pious recluse.


No.2:  Subject: St Christopher carrying Christ and Christ of the Trades.  

Location:  On either side of the North door.  

Comments:  Uncovered by Revd. Barnes in 1891.  The figure of Christ is surrounded with the tools of various trades, ie farming and general village life.  Beside him it looks as though there is a diamond playing card.  There are many theories as to what this is, too many to remember.  Below the Knee of St Christopher carrying Christ is a mermaid holding a looking glass, the face in it is clearly not hers, especially as she is turned away from it.  Around her are fish. One seems almost fixed to her right side.  Another flat fish is flying upwards and another above that.  Above her head is a figure in a coracle, a saint arriving on the shore.  Above that is a large sailing ship.  Although both figures are very primitive in their appearance, they are both very engaging, the eyes seem to hold you in their gaze no matter where you are in the church.


No.3:  Subject:  Figures of Saints.  

Location: In windows to the right of Christ of the Trades.  

Comments:  According to Thorne (p9): Thought to be St Hilary, St Corentin (Cury), St Ambrose and St Germoe.  According to Bonsey (p6): St Hilary, St Corentine, St Ambrose or St Gergory.  Being painted about 1470 shortly after completion of the church.  According to Coulthard Some Notes ... (p4): St Hilary, St Corentine, a mythical Bishop of Cornwall with his miraculous fish, Gregory or St Ambrose, *(St Giles the Patron Saint of Cripples and St Thomas of Canterbury.)


No. 4: Subject: Painted brocade/plaque.  

Location:  North Chancel above door leading to rood loft.  

Comments:  Quotes in English from Proverbs 3 v.7 Prov. 4 v 10 and v14 in English.  No references in texts consulted.


No.5: Subject: Thought to be St Thomas of Canterbury and St Giles also another faint painting of brocade.  

Location: South Aisle.  

Comments:  According to Bonsey, (p2) these paintings were discovered in 1955 but are barely visible.  There is also evidence of similar, roughly shaped brocade on the wall beside the south transpet showing through the lime wash.  This will be restored at some time in the future.  I cannot say whether they are both medieval only that they are under the limewash, therefore they could be.
Roofs
CORNISH BARRELL OR WAGON ROOFS:  

Both the north aisle and south aisle still retain the original carved ceilings.  The medieval roof in the north transept is of particularly ornate design and can be seen over the top of the door to the transept which is now the vestry.

South Transept

As well as housing the shards of glass found in the churchyard, within this area is a cupboard apparently made from old pews, the age I do not know, but they were in the church prior to the 'restoration work' of the 1890s.
Books of Reference, Articles or others sources referred to

Bonsey HL (Revd), A Pilgrim's Guide to Breage Church, Brewers, Helston
Coulthard HR (Canon), Some notes on the Church and Parish of Breage, undated Printed by J Lander & Son Limited, Helston
Coulthard HR,  Breage Parish Church - The Story of an Ancient Parish Printed in 1913 by The Camborne Printing and Stationery Company Limited, Camborne.
"J.E.C." Parish Church of St Breaca, Breage Cornwall, a Brief History, 1995 printed by A & J Mitchell, Helston, Tel: 01326 561022.
Langdon A, Stone Crosses in West Cornwall (including The Lizard) Series No.5, Printed by Troutbeck Press, Penryn.
Parker RG, Breage Through the Ages (Breage Church Quincentenary 1444-1966), Printed by Worden Printers, Marazion & Penzance.
Thorne P, Breage & St Breaca's Church. First published in 1996 by Breaca Books (Quantock), Pellor Fields, Breage, Helston, Cornwall, Reset and reprinted by Mitchell the Printer, Hayle, Cornwall, September, 2005.

Miscellaneous
Evidence of Settlement
According to Bonsey, A Pilgrim's Guide ...(p3) .  The present church is probably the third or even fourth to occupy this site, and belongs totally to the 15th century.  Prior to this there was a Norman church, built @ 1100 - 1150 of which only a few carved stones remain, and there is evidence that a church had been built here before then, of which nothing now remains.
He says according to tradition the first church was founded by St Breaca at end of the 5th century/beginning 6th. T he traditional site of St Breaca's first settlement is about one mile away at SE foot of Tregonning Hill, the exact date of this first church is unknown.  Suffice to say that there has been a church on this site from a very early time.  Bonsey goes on to say that the churchyard being circular in shape may indicate that this site is very ancient and has been used as a place of burial long before the Christian era.
Indeed Coulthard The Story o/...(p23-24) agrees with the above quoting the sites at Chynoweth and Tolmena as the first then Penbroc referring to the ancient deeds naming Eglos Pembroc (Church on the Hill of Breaca).  He states that the only relic from that period is the Red Sandstone Cross now outside the South porch. Coulthard speculates that this must have been a site of heathen worship through many centuries, and building on these ancient sites was symbolical of the Saints and a victory of the Cross over the Demons which haunted these, their ancient sanctuaries.
Coulthard in Some Notes ... (pi 3) says that the centre of the circle in which the church was built, may have been regarded as a sacred spot in pagan times.  Within recent times egg-shaped stones have been dug up in the Church yard, these having been regarded as symbols of fertility and reproduction of life (he goes on to say many churches are surrounded by these mounds).
Parker Breage through the Ages (pi to3) uses quotes from Leland's notes of 1538 taken from an ancient document on the life of St Breaca and Charles Henderson a Cornish historian.  Parker believes the present church to be built on the place of previously heathen worship.  He claims that Christianity had already arrived here with the Romans, but the Anglo-Saxon invasion had virtually wiped this out elsewhere in the Country, yet in Cornwall the lamp still burned.  St Breaca helped it to burn more brightly.  In fact during the dark ages most of the Lizard Peninsula became a Celtic Monastic demesne, Meneage stems from the word Manach, meaning monastic land.  The Doomsday records Methleigh as and important Manor which included Breage Church and its appendant chapelries (Germoe, Curty and Gunwalloe) as part of the Bishopric of Exeter.  Because of its ecclesiastical connections, the Manor escaped the fate of most manors consequent upon the Conquest.  The Parish it seems never to have been out to the lap of Mother Church.  In 1246 the Church of St Breage, with its "Capellae" was conveyed to the Abbey of Hayles in Gloucestershire where it remained until 1539.
Roman Milestone: 
Situated on the North-West corner of the North Aisle of the Church is a roman milestone According to Coulthard Some Notes on the Parish of Breage (p2):  This was discovered in 1924 within a few hundred yards of the Church. It bears the name of the usurping Emperor Marcus Cassianus Postumus dated around 260 to 268 AD.  Coulthard believes there was a Roman trackway through St Hilary & Breage between the mines in Penwith and the Helford River from where the Romans took the tin to Gaul  According to Thorne Breage and St Breaca 's Church (p20).  The stone bears a Latin inscription 'To the Emperor Caesar our Lord Marcus Cassianius Latinius Postumus, pious, forntunare, august' the only stone surviving in Britain dedicated to Postumus it dates from AD 258-268
Personal comment
Sarah wishes to thank the Revd. Penny Stevens and especially Mark Phillips (church warden) for their help and guidance with the Church's history.
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